SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC10-2132 L.T. NO: 5D09-2049 CIRCUIT COURT CASE NO.: 2008-CA-2619

DEBRA LAIZURE, as Personal Representative of the Estate of HARRY LEE STEWART, deceased,

Petitioner,

vs.

AVANTE AT LEESBURG, INC., a.k.a. AVANTE AT LEESBURG OUTPATIENT REHAB, INC., AVANTE ANCILLARY SERVICES, INC., and AVANTE GROUP, INC.,

Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

D. Paul McCaskill Attorney for Petitioner David Law Group, P.A. 100 East Faith Terrace P.O. Box 940218 Maitland, Fl 32751 Fla. Bar No.: 0688411 (407) 830-9064 Fax No.: (407) 830-9064

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner will be referred to as "Laizure." Avante at Leesburg, Inc., shall be referred to as "AVL." The remaining Respondents will be referred to as Avante Ancillary Services, Inc., or Avante Group, Inc.

The following designations will be used: (App.)--Appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

This appeal stems from an Order on Defendants' Motions to Compel Arbitration, Motions to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and Motion to Stay Discovery dated May 7, 2009. (App. 1)

Harry Stewart had knee surgery at Leesburg Regional Medical Center on May 11, 2006. (App. 2 at p. 4) While he was still in the hospital following his surgery, Peggy Brennan, an admissions employee at AVL, approached Stewart in his room and persuaded him to begin his rehabilitation at its facility. (App. 3 at p. 13-15; App. 4 at p. 48) On May 14, 2006, Stewart was discharged from Leesburg Regional Medical Center and transferred to AVL. (App. 2 at pp. 4-5) At the time of his discharge from the hospital, Stewart's white blood count was normal and showed no signs of infection. (App. 2 at p. 4) It is undisputed that Brennan nor any other representative from AVL ever showed or discussed the Arbitration Agreement which is at issue in this case with Stewart while he was at Leesburg Regional Medical Center.

After he was transferred to AVL and had begun treatment there, Peggy Brennan¹ presented Stewart with an Agreement for Care which included an Arbitration Agreement as an Addendum.

¹ Counsel for Laizure took the deposition of Brennan on January 14, 2009. (App. 5)

(App. 6) This was this first time that anyone from AVL had mentioned anything to Stewart about an Arbitration Agreement or his need to sign one. (App. 5 at p. 46) Stewart signed the Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement on May 15, 2006. (App. 6 at p. 8) Brennan testified at her deposition that she presented Harry Stewart with the Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement on May 15, 2006, at AVL. (App. 5 at p. 46) She stated that this was not the date that Stewart was admitted at AVL, and that he in fact had been admitted there the day before, which was Sunday, May 14, 2006. (App. 5 at p. 46)

Debra Laizure, the Personal Representative of Harry Stewart's Estate, did not sign either the Agreement for Care or the Arbitration Agreement and neither did any other member of Stewart's family. The other two Respondents in these proceedings, Avante Ancillary Services, Inc., and Avante Group, Inc., did not sign the Arbitration Agreement nor are they mentioned in it.

On May 16, 2006, Harry Stewart's roommate told the staff at AVL that Stewart was sitting on the floor after having apparently fallen. (App. 2 at p. 5) Stewart developed a massive infection at AVL, and was transferred back to Leesburg Regional Medical Center on May 18, 2006, where his condition

rapidly deteriorated following the discovery that his white blood count was 48.8. (App. 2 at p. 6)

Harry Stewart died on May 18, 2006, roughly 4 days after he had arrived at the doorstep of AVL. (App. 2 at p. 6)

The Arbitration Agreement which Stewart signed at AVL is an addendum to an Agreement for Care dated May 15, 2006. (App. 6) The Arbitration Agreement, which contains no mention of wrongful

death claims, states:

This Agreement is made between Avante at Leesburg ("Facility") and Harry L. Stewart ("Resident" or "Resident's Authorized Representative") and is an addendum to and part of the Admission Agreement.

The Facility and the Resident and/or Resident's Authorized Representative (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Parties") understand and agree that any legal dispute, controversy, demand, or claim where the damages or other amount in controversy is/are alleged to exceed ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00), and that arises out of or relates to the Resident Admission Agreement or is in any way connected to the Resident's stay at the Facility shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration; and not by a lawsuit or resort to other court process. The parties understand that arbitration is a process in which a neutral third person or persons ("arbitrator(s)") considers the facts and arguments presented by the parties and renders a binding decision.

This agreement to arbitrate shall include, but is not limited to, any claim based on payment, non- payment, refund for services rendered to the Resident by the Facility, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud or misrepresentation, common law or statutory negligence, gross negligence, malpractice or a claim based on any departure from accepted standards of medical or nursing care (collectively "Disputes"), where the damages or other amount in controversy is/are alleged to exceed ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00). This shall expressly include, without limitation, claims based on Chapter 400, Florida Statutes, which allege damages in excess of ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00)

This agreement shall be binding upon, and shall include any claims brought by or against the Parties' representatives, agents, heirs, assigns, employees, managers, directors, shareholders, management companies, parent companies, subsidiary companies or related or affiliated business entities.

(emphasis added). (App. 6)

On June 16, 2008, Harry Stewart's daughter, Debra Laizure, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Harry Stewart filed a four-count Complaint and demand for jury trial against the Respondents. Laizure filed an Amended Complaint on June 18, 2008. (App. 2) AVL is the rehabilitation facility where Harry Stewart stayed following his knee operation at Leesburg Regional Medical Center. (App. 2 at pp. 4-5) Laizure's Amended Complaint also named as defendants Avante Ancillary Services, Inc., and Avante Group, Inc.

Count I of Laizure's Amended Complaint is for deprivation or infringement of a resident's rights pursuant to Chapter 400, Florida Statutes (2006), and is directed toward AVL. (App. 2 at p. 7) Count II is for wrongful death and is also directed toward AVL. (App. 2 at p. 10) Count III is for deprivation or infringement of resident's rights pursuant to Chapter 400, Florida Statutes (2006), and is directed toward Avante Ancillary Services, Inc. (App. 2 at p. 13) Count IV is for wrongful

death and is directed toward Avante at Ancillary Services, Inc. (App 2 at p. 15) Count V is for deprivation or infringement of resident's rights pursuant to Chapter 400, Florida Statutes (2006), and is directed towards Avante Group, Inc. (App. 2 at p. 18) Count VI is for Wrongful Death and is directed toward Avante Group, Inc. (App. 2 at p. 20)

At her deposition on January 14, 2009, Peggy Brennan testified that her job at AVL involves going to hospitals to sign up potential referrals. (App. 5 at p. 9) Although she presented Harry Stewart with the Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement at issue in this case, Brennan admitted that she has no memory of any statements he made to her. (App. 5 at p. 26) In fact, Brennan had no actual memory of Stewart. (App. 5 at p. 26) Brennan acknowledged that part of her job is to try to attract people to the rehabilitation facility run by AVL, and that she had a financial incentive to get patients admitted there. (App. 5 at pp. 34-35) She stated that the first time a patient sees an admissions packet is when they are at AVL, and not in the hospital from which they were transferred. (App. 5 at p. 30)

Laizure's attorney asked Brennan a series of questions regarding her understanding of the provisions of the Arbitration Agreement. Brennan stated that she has no legal training.

(App. 5 at p. 9) When asked what happens if a resident goes to arbitration and does not like the result, Brennan stated that she did not know. (App. 5 at p. 45) Brennan also did not know what was meant by binding arbitration. (App. 5 at p. 46)

When asked about an exculpatory clause which appears in the Agreement for Care presented to Stewart, Brennan answered that she believed its purpose was to release AVL from any liability that occurs after a resident leaves the nursing home. (App. 5 at pp. 51-52) She was unable to say, however, why such a clause might be important. (App. 5 at p. 53) The exculpatory clause about which Brennan was being questioned is contained within AVL's Agreement for Care dated May 15, 2006. (App. 6) It states:

THE RESIDENT, HIS/HER LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE, HIS/HER DESIGNEE, IF ANY, AGREES TO:

* * * * *

8. Accept full responsibility for and absolve and release the nursing home, it's personal [sic], and attending physician from any liability for any event, accident, or deterioration of medical condition while the resident is away from the nursing home and not under the direct care and supervision of the nursing home, or if the resident should leave the nursing home, or if the resident should leave the nursing home for any reason without first giving notice.

(App. 6)

Brennan was also questioned about a clause in the Arbitration Agreement which required that fraud claims be arbitrated. This provision states: "This Agreement to arbitrate shall include, but is not limited to, any claim based on . . . breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, misrepresentation. . . ." (App. 6) Brennan admitted that she did not know the significance of such a clause. (App. 5 at pp. 60-61) She did not remember whether she told Harry Stewart that he was giving up his right to have a fraud claim decided by a jury, nor did she know what was meant by statutory or common law negligence. (App. 5 at pp. 65-66)

Significantly, Brennan testified that if she was bringing a loved one to AVL she would not sign any agreement without first running it by her lawyer. (App. 5 at p. 64)

Following the filing of Laizure's Amended Complaint, the Respondents filed numerous motions to compel arbitration which are referenced in the Order on appeal. (App. 7) The trial court held a hearing as to these motions on April 21, 2009. (App. 4) On May 7, 2009, the trial court granted the Respondents' motions for arbitration and entered an Order on Defendants' Motions to Compel Arbitration, Motions to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint and Motion to Stay Discovery. (App. 1) In this Order, the trial court found: (1) that on May

15, 2006, Harry Stewart signed several agreements including the Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement. (App. 1 at p. 2) The trial court also found that the Arbitration Agreement was a valid written arbitration agreement, that the claims brought by Laizure on behalf of the Estate were arbitrable issues, and that the defendants' right to arbitration had not been waived. (App. 1 at p. 2) Finally, the trial court found that although they did not sign and were not mentioned in the Arbitration Agreement, the beneficiaries of the Estate of Harry Stewart were bound by its terms as to any wrongful death action or violation of residents' rights because, in its view, these individuals were intended third-party beneficiaries of the Arbitration Agreement. (App. 1 at p. 3) The trial court then abated the proceedings below pending the resolution of the issues involved in this appeal. (App. 1 at p. 3)

At the conclusion of the hearing below, the trial court judge had this to say about his ruling:

Well, the big issue is whether or not the heirs, as intended beneficiaries, are bound by it such that their independent cause of action for wrongful death is bound by the arbitration agreement. They're intended beneficiaries. You've got freedom to contract. I think they're bound by it.

Quite candidly I don't know if I ruled the other way whether the defense could take an appeal now or they'd have to wait until the end of the suit. <u>But freedom of</u> <u>contract</u>, they're an intended beneficiary. . . . (emphasis added.)(App. 4 at pp. 90-91)

Laizure timely filed her Notice of Appeal on June 3, 2009. (App. 8) On October 1, 2010, the Fifth District Court of Appeal issued its written opinion affirming the ruling of the trial court and certifying the question on review in these proceedings. <u>Laizure v. Avante at Leesburg, Inc</u>., 44 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010). Ultimately unable to reconcile aspects of a Florida wrongful death claim which establish its independent nature with other features which, in its view, suggested that such a claim is derivative, the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified the following as a question of great public importance:

DOES THE EXECUTION OF A NURSING HOME ARBITRATION AGREEMENT BY A PARTY WITH THE CAPACITY TO CONTRACT, BIND THE PATIENT'S ESTATE AND STATUTORY HEIRS IN A SUBSEQUENT WRONGFUL DEATH ACTION ARISING FROM AN ALLEGED TORT WITHIN THE SCOPE OF AN OTHERWISE VALID ARBITRATION AGREEMENT?

By Order dated December 14, 2010, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case. (R. 29-30)

This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court committed reversible error in compelling arbitration. A wrongful death claim is not an arbitrable issue because it does not belong to the decedent. AVL's arbitration provision therefore cannot be used to compel the heirs of Harry Stewart to submit to binding arbitration.

A wrongful death claim cannot arise until after the decedent has died. It is not a derivative claim because under the Florida Wrongful Death Act a wrongful death claim is a cause of action which is independent of the decedent's claim. Not only are the parties in wrongful death case different from those involved in a decedent's underlying tort claim, the damages recoverable under section 768.21, Florida Statutes (2006), illustrate that the Wrongful Death Act is meant to compensate for the losses of the survivors rather than the decedent. These damages belong exclusively to the survivors. Accordingly, AVL's Arbitration Agreement cannot bind the Estate or Mr. Stewart's heirs to arbitrate a wrongful death claim which was not his to bind or limit, and which is composed of damages that exclusively belong to and benefit his survivors. Wrongful death claims are thus beyond the scope of AVL's Arbitration Agreement and do not present an arbitrable issue.

A critical weakness in the opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal is that it overlooks the central question in this case, which is who really "owns" a wrongful death claim. No serious contention was made either in the opinion below or in these proceedings that a wrongful death claim in Florida belongs to anyone other than the beneficiaries of the decedent. That defenses which could have been asserted against a decedent could be posed against his or her survivors does not alter this basic principle of law.

AVL'S Agreement for Care and the Arbitration Agreement contained within it are both procedurally and substantively unconscionable. The facts surrounding the execution of these documents show procedural unconscionability because of the lack of Harry Stewart's bargaining power. These same facts reveal that Mr. Stewart did not have a meaningful opportunity to have understood their terms and conditions. AVL's representative did not present these documents to Mr. Stewart until after he had already been admitted into AVL's facility and had begun rehabilitation there. Mr. Stewart had little choice but to sign the Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement because had he not done so, he would have faced potential discontinuation of the relationships he had begun with the doctors, nurses and other staff members at AVL.

AVL's Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement are classic examples of adhesion contracts which were offered to Mr. Stewart on a "take it or leave it" basis without a realistic opportunity to bargain as to their terms and conditions. Peggy Brennan, the person who presented these documents to Mr. Stewart on behalf of AVL had no meaningful grasp of the legal rights that they were meant to bar a resident from asserting. She was therefore in no position to sufficiently explain the magnitude of what he was being asked to give up in a way that would allow him to properly evaluate the consequences of what he was signing.

AVL's Agreement for Care and Arbitration Agreement are also substantively unconscionable. An agreement is substantively unconscionable if its terms are unreasonable and unfair. Here, both agreements contain terms and conditions which run overwhelmingly to the benefit of AVL. The exculpatory clause in AVL's Agreement for Care requires that residents release AVL from any liability concerning their medical condition when the resident is away from the nursing home but not under its direct care and supervision. Similarly, this clause releases AVL if the resident leaves the nursing home for any reason without first giving notice. This clause would not even permit arbitration of tort claims or statutory causes of action such as

those set forth in the Nursing Home Resident Right's Act. This clause thus goes beyond merely defeating the remedial provisions of Chapter 400--it attempts to bar such statutory claims entirely.

AVL'S Arbitration Agreement also defeats the remedial purpose of Chapter 400 because it attempts to channel fraud claims, including those that arise under Chapter 400, into arbitration. Because arbitration is a closed process, such claims cannot be scrutinized or easily accessed by the public no matter how egregious the conduct of the nursing home might be. This defeats the remedial purpose of Chapter 400 because a nursing home's concealment and misrepresentation practices will remain hidden from the public eye. Thus, those who would entrust their loved ones to the care of a nursing home will likely never learn of that home's fraudulent practices.

The Estate of Harry Stewart was not an intended third-party beneficiary of the Arbitration Agreement. To have properly established this, AVL would have to have shown not only that it intended to benefit the Estate, but also that Harry Stewart intended to do so as well. These requirements were not met, as neither the Agreement for Care nor the Arbitration Agreement ever mention the Estate, much less attempt to benefit or bind it.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN COMPELLING ARBITRATION

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review governing an order granting a motion to compel arbitration is <u>de novo</u>. <u>See Bacon Family Partners</u>, <u>L.P. v. Apollo Condo. Ass'n</u>, 852 So.2d 882, 887 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); <u>Ocwen Federal Bank FSB v. LVWD</u>, Ltd., 766 So.2d 248, 249 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)("whether an issue is subject to arbitration is a matter of contract interpretation and our review is <u>de</u> novo.")

B. JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is proper in these proceedings because this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal that passes upon a question certified by it to be of great public importance. . . . " Art., V, section 3(b)(4), Fla. Const.

C. THE ESTATE'S WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIM IS NOT AN ARBITRABLE ISSUE

The right to jury trial in Florida is guaranteed by Article I, section 22, of the Florida Constitution, which states that the "right of trial by jury shall be secure to all and remain inviolate." An effective waiver of a constitutional right must be voluntary, knowing, and intelligent. <u>See Vetrick v.</u> <u>Hollander</u>, 743 So.2d 1128, 1131 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). Courts

will "indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights. . . ." <u>Perez v. State</u>, 167 So.2d 313,314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964). This case presents the issue of whether an arbitration agreement can defeat this basic right afforded to every citizen in Florida.

In <u>Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp.</u>, 750 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1999), this Court set out a three-part test courts to consider in connection with a motion to compel arbitration: (1) whether valid written agreement to arbitrate exists; (2) whether an arbitrable issue exists; (3) whether the right to arbitrate was waived. <u>Id</u>. at 636. As will be seen, arbitration is improper in this case because AVL's Arbitration Agreement does not encompass wrongful death claims. Therefore, no "arbitrable issue" existed for the parties to arbitrate.

<u>Seifert</u> concerned a married couple's purchase of a home following which the husband died due to carbon monoxide poisoning. The wife filed a wrongful death claim against the builder, and the builder sought to enforce an arbitration clause by filing a motion to compel arbitration. This Court held that "an agreement to arbitrate in a purchase and sale agreement does not necessarily mandate arbitration of a subsequent and independent tort action based upon common law duties." <u>Id</u>. at 635. This Court stated that no party may be forced to submit a

dispute to arbitration that the party did not intend to and agree to arbitrate. Id. at 636.

In <u>Seifert</u>, this Court indicated that while arbitration clauses are generally favored by the courts, their construction is a matter of contract interpretation. "[T]he determination of whether an arbitration clause requires arbitration . . . `rests on the intent of the parties.'" Id. (citations omitted).

Citing an earlier decision by the First District Court of Appeal, this Court reiterated in <u>Seifert</u> the general rule "that where an arbitration agreement exists between the parties, arbitration is required only of those controversies or disputes which the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration." <u>Id</u>. at 636 (quoting <u>Regency Group, Inc. v. McDaniels</u>, 647 So.2d 192, 193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)). This language is critical in this case because Mr. Stewart could never have agreed to submit a potential wrongful death claim to arbitration--even if he could have forseen what was to happen to him--because that claim was not in existence and did not belong to him. Such a claim belongs only to his estate, and only arose after he died. Thus, the wrongful death claim which the Estate filed in this case is not encompassed by AVL's Arbitration Agreement.

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