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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should answer the certified question presented in this case in the Affirmative; and affirm the decisions of both of the lower courts in this case.

The wrongful death claims alleged by Petitioner in this case fall squarely within the unambiguous, broad and inclusive language of the Arbitration Agreement, which requires the arbitration of any claims based on common law or statutory negligence, gross negligence, or malpractice; and makes it clear the Arbitration Agreement is binding on Mr. Stewart's heirs and Estate just as it would have been binding on Mr. Stewart if he had not passed away.

There is no legitimate basis for Petitioner's argument that, notwithstanding the plain language of the Arbitration Agreement, the wrongful death claims asserted in this case are not arbitrable because they are "independent" actions that "belong" to Mr. Stewart's Estate and survivors. The Fifth District directly addressed Petitioner's wrongheaded contention and correctly explained that wrongful death claims, while "independent" claims, are "derivative" in the sense that they are "dependent on a wrong committed against the decedent;" and, as such, are arbitrable pursuant to the terms of the Arbitration Agreement here.

The Fifth District's ruling in this case is supported by the decisions of this and other Florida Appellate Courts that have tacitly acknowledged that wrongful death claims are arbitrable where they fall within the scope of a valid arbitration agreement by ordering such claims to arbitration. These decisions obviously recognize that, due to the derivative nature of wrongful death claims, an arbitration agreement that would have required the decedent to arbitrate a personal injury action based on alleged wrongful conduct (if he had survived) will require the decedent's Estate and survivors to arbitrate a claim for wrongful death based on that same alleged wrongful conduct. The decisions in these cases, like the Fifth District's ruling in this case, are consistent with the well established principle that affirmative defenses that could have been asserted against a decedent to limit or even bar him from maintaining or recovering in a personal injury action based on alleged wrongful conduct (if he had survived) will limit or bar the decedent's Estate and survivors to the same extent it would have limited or barred the decedent. There are numerous cases that apply this principle and support the Fifth District's decision in this case.

The cases most analogous to the case at bar are those that deal with an affirmative defense based on the existence of a valid General Release. Those cases hold that a valid General Release which by its terms completely bars a decedent's Estate and survivors from bringing a wrongful death claim, will bind the decedent's Estate and survivors. Given the rationale and conclusions in these cases, it stands to reason that a decedent can, by agreeing to an Arbitration Agreement (contract), bind his Estate and survivors to arbitrate any wrongful death claims they may choose to bring. To hold differently would lead to an incongruous and absurd result; particularly given that an arbitration agreement requires that the Estate and survivors submit their claims to "resolution in an arbitral, rather than judicial forum;" but (unlike a general release) does not bar or otherwise limit such claims.

The Fifth District's ruling in this case is supported by the decisions of other state courts, with statutory wrongful death schemes similar to the one that exists in Florida, that have addressed the issue raised in this case.

The Fifth District's ruling is supported by Florida's strong public policy in favor of arbitration; and does not impact the fundamental purpose of the Wrongful Death Act, which is to prevent a tortfeasor from escaping liability when its wrongful conduct causes an individual's death.

The Fifth District's ruling is supported by the fact the Florida Legislature has chosen not to prohibit wrongful death claims from being arbitrated and has not imposed any limitations or conditions on the enforcement of arbitration agreements in wrongful death cases.

There is no legitimate basis for Petitioner's assertion that the Arbitration Agreement should be invalidated as unconscionable.

#### ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question presented in this case in the *Affirmative*; hold that the execution of a valid nursing home arbitration agreement by an individual with the capacity to contract binds that individual's Estate and statutory heirs in a subsequent wrongful death action or actions arising from an alleged tort that falls within the scope of that arbitration agreement; and that the alternative bases Petitioner asserts in support of her argument for reversal are

without merit. In accordance with that holding, this Court should affirm the decision of both lower courts; and require that all of Petitioner's claims be arbitrated pursuant to the terms of the Arbitration Agreement at issue in this case.

# I. BY ITS EXPRESS TERMS, THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT ENCOMPASSES THE WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIMS RAISED BY PETITIONER AND IS BINDING ON MR. STEWART'S ESTATE AND HEIRS

# A. THE WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIMS ALLEGED BY PETITIONER IN THIS CASE ARE UNDENIABLY ENCOMPASSED WITHIN THE BROAD SCOPE OF THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT

Petitioner's wrongful death claims undeniably fall within the scope of the

Arbitration Agreement at issue here. That Agreement provides in clear, broad,

inclusive language:

any legal dispute, controversy, demand, or claim ... that arises out of or relates to the Resident Agreement for Care or is in any way connected to the Resident's stay at the Facility shall be resolved exclusively by binding Arbitration; and not by a lawsuit or resort to other court process...[including but not limited to] any claim based on ... common law or statutory negligence, gross negligence, malpractice or a claim based on any departure from accepted standards of medical or nursing care ... This shall expressly include, without limitation, claims based on Chapter 400, Florida Statutes...

(Supp. App. 1 at 100026)

This express language makes it undeniably clear that the Arbitration Agreement

was intended to (and does) encompass all of the claims alleged by Petitioner in this

case, including the wrongful death claims.

As a preliminary matter, the Arbitration Agreement expressly states that "any legal dispute, controversy, demand, or claim ... that arises out of or relates to the Resident Agreement for Care or is in any way connected to the Resident's stay at the Facility shall be resolved exclusively by binding Arbitration; and not by a lawsuit or resort to other court process." Based on the prior decisions of this Court, the language cited above, without more, would be more than sufficient to establish that the intent of the parties to the Arbitration Agreement at issue here was to include Petitioner's wrongful death claims within the scope of that agreement. This is because there is a sufficient "nexus" or relationship between Petitioner's claims (claims premised on alleged negligent care) and the contract that includes the Arbitration Agreement as an addendum (the "Agreement for Care" from which those claims arose). See Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp., 750 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1999); Sears Authorized Termite & Pest Control, Inc. v. Sullivan, 816 So.2d 603 (Fla. 2002); Five Points Health Care, Ltd., v. Alberts, 867 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2004). However, this is not the only language in the Arbitration Agreement that makes it unequivocally clear the parties intended it to encompass a wide variety of claims including the wrongful death claims alleged by Petitioner.

In addition to the above cited language, the Arbitration Agreement goes on to expressly state that "any claim based on ... common law or statutory negligence, gross negligence, malpractice or a claim based on any departure from accepted standards of medical or nursing care." As recognized by this Court in Seifert v. U.S. Home Corp., 750 So.2d 633 (Fla. 1999), by its very nature a wrongful death claim is a claim sounding in (i.e. is based on or "predicated" on) a tort. Seifert at 640 (stating the wrongful death claims in that case were based or predicated on common law negligence). Here, as in Seifert, the wrongful death claims at issue are "based on" the alleged "negligence" of Respondents (i.e. alleged actions or inactions which allegedly resulted in breaches of the prevailing standard of care for nursing homes and therapy providers). Specifically, they are based on Respondents' alleged breaches of alleged duties "to render care treatment or services in a reasonably prudent manner and in accordance with accepted standards of care and practice in the nursing home facilities industry" (App. 2 at para. 28-29). As an aside, these wrongful death claims could also be characterized as "malpractice" claims or claims "based on any departure from accepted standards of medical or nursing care," and that fact only further supports the decision of the Fifth District. Given the cited language of the Arbitration Agreement, whether these claims are classified as claims based on negligence, malpractice, departures from accepted standards of medical or nursing care, or all three, these claims are undeniably included within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement.

Finally, the Arbitration Agreement expressly includes any claims based on Chapter 400, Florida Statutes. Because Mr. Stewart was a nursing home resident, both the violation of nursing home resident rights and wrongful death claims Petitioner is asserting are controlled by the provisions of Florida's Nursing Home Residents' Right Act ("FNRRA"), Chapter 400, Sections 400.023-400.0238, Florida Statutes. The FNRRA provides that a nursing home resident shall have a cause of action for the recovery of damages for personal injury or death arising out of **negligence** or a violation of that resident's rights specified in Section 400.022, Florida Statutes. <u>See</u> Section 400.023(1), Florida Statutes. Further, and importantly for purposes of this case, the FNRRA expressly states that "sections 400.023-400.0238 provide the "**exclusive remedy for a cause of action for recovery of damages for the personal injury or death of a nursing home resident arising out of negligence or a violation of rights specified in s. 400.022." See Section 400.023(1), Florida Statutes (emphasis added).** 

The FNNRA also provides that "[i]f [an action brought pursuant to the FNNRA] alleges a claim for the resident's rights or for negligence that caused the death of the resident, the claimant shall be required to elect either survival damages pursuant to s. 46.021 or wrongful death damages pursuant to s. 768.21." In other words, the FNRRA incorporates pertinent sections of the wrongful death and survival statutes within its framework to define the specific types of damages that may be recoverable in an action brought under the auspices of the FNRRA.

Taken together, what this means is that any case involving a nursing home

resident, including a wrongful death claim for "personal injury or death" based on common law or statutory negligence (i.e. violation of resident's rights) must be brought under the auspices of the FNRRA or "Chapter 400." Thus, though Petitioner has styled one set of claims against Petitioners as "wrongful death" claims, without reference to Chapter 400, those wrongful death claims nonetheless fall under the auspices of the FNRRA.

This does not change the fundamental character of the claims. The claims are still based or predicated on a theory of negligence. However, it technically brings the claims within the scope of the FNRRA and qualifies them as "claims based on Chapter 400, Florida Statutes." This is important because, in addition to its other inclusive language, the Arbitration Agreement expressly includes within its scope "claims based on Chapter 400, Florida Statutes." The wrongful death claims in this case are, amongst other things, "claims based on Chapter 400."

In sum, based on the allegation in Petitioner's Amended Complaint (App. 2), which sets out the claims in this case, it is clear the wrongful death claims arise out of or are related to the resident Agreement for Care titled "Agreement for Care" (App. 6; p. 1) and have a sufficient nexus or connection to Mr. Stewart's stay at AVL; are based on negligence, malpractice, and/or departures from accepted standards of medical or nursing care; and qualify as "claims based on Chapter 400, Florida Statutes." Thus, no matter how one looks at the Arbitration Agreement, it is undeniable that all of the claims alleged by Petitioner in this case, including the wrongful death claims, fall within the scope of that Agreement.

#### B. IN ADDITION, MR. STEWART'S ESTATE AND HEIRS ARE BOUND BY THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT WHICH EXPRESSLY APPLIES TO THEM JUST AS IT WOULD HAVE APPLIED TO MR. STEWART

In addition to clearly encompassing the wrongful death claims asserted by Petitioner in this case, the Arbitration Agreement puts to rest any possible remaining argument that it was not meant to apply to claims brought by Mr. Stewart's Estate or heirs, by expressly stating that it binds them. The fact that Harry L. Stewart signed the Arbitration Agreement clearly indicates that Mr. Stewart intended for himself to be bound by the terms of that Agreement. Moreover, given that the broad Arbitration Agreement specifically includes a term which states "this Agreement shall be binding upon, and shall include any claims, brought by or against the parties' representative, agents, heirs, . . ." (App. 6 and Supp. App. 1 at 100026), it is clear that it was Mr. Stewart's intent that his Estate and heirs be bound by the Arbitration Agreement just as he would have been.

Courts have recognized that non-signatories to an arbitration agreement may be bound by an arbitration agreement if dictated by normal principles of contract law and agency. <u>See Doctors Associates, Inc. v. Thomas</u>, 898 So.2d 159 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005); <u>Martha A. Gottfried, Inc., v. Paulette Koch Real Estate</u>, 778 So.2d 1089 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001). Thus, non-signatories to an arbitration agreement can be bound by the agreement where they have claims arising out of or relating to the subject matter of the arbitration agreement. <u>See Cunningham Hamilton Quitter</u>, <u>P.A. v. B.L. of Miami, Inc.</u>, 776 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000).

As discussed in great detail elsewhere in this brief, the wrongful death claims of Mr. Stewart's Estate and heirs (non-signatories to the Arbitration Agreement) are claims arising out of or relating to the subject matter of the arbitration agreement. Accordingly, his heirs and Estate are bound by that Arbitration Agreement to the same extent Mr. Stewart would have been bound by its terms had he survived and sought to bring a personal injury claim based on the alleged negligence of Respondents. As an important aside, the Arbitration Agreement similarly binds Avante Group, Inc. and ACAS, Inc., (which were also non-signatories to the Arbitration Agreement) to the same extent it binds AVL, pursuant to express language that makes it applicable to the facility's "shareholders, management companies, parent companies, subsidiary companies or related or affiliated business entities." (Supp. App. 1 at 100026).

On a related note, it is particularly absurd for Petitioner to suggest that the Arbitration Agreement cannot apply to Mr. Stewart's Estate. First, an Estate could never be a signatory to a contract such as an arbitration agreement any more than it could be a signatory to a Will. Nonetheless an Estate can be bound by a contract just as it is bound by a Will. The entire body of probate law that exists in this and every other state would be turned on its ear if the courts were to hold that individuals do not have the right to make binding arrangements during their lives that will control their Estates and the disposition of any assets contained in those Estates after their deaths.

## C. THE FACT THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT ENCOMPASSES THE WRONGFUL DEATH CLAIMS RAISED BY PETITIONER AND IS BINDING ON MR. STEWART'S ESTATE AND HEIRS IS NOT IMPACTED BY PETITIONER'S COUNTER ARGUMENTS

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